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Calhoun County was created in 1838 and named for the South Carolina United States Senator,
John C. Calhoun. The county was created in order to establish St. Joseph as a commercial
competitor to Apalachicola. St. Joseph flourished for only a few years. During this time the city
served as the county seat for Calhoun County. St. Joseph grew rapidly as a seaport. A railroad was
constructed from St. Joseph to lola on the west bank of the Apalachicola River. Thousands of bales
of cotton were diverted from the seaport of Apalachicola over the railroad to St. Joseph to be
shipped to England. The first constitution for the territory of Florida was written and adopted in the
city of St. Joseph. Yellow fever and hurricanes wiped out St. Joseph.

Abes Springs Bluff served as the county seat of government after the destruction of St. Joseph until
1880. A two story frame building was constructed near the Blount Bluff and served as a courthouse
and office building for Calhoun County. A town was surveyed and laid out in streets, lots and blocks
for the small town which lay adjacent to the Apalachicola River.

In 1902 a movement began to build a new courthouse a mile north and west of the river town. In
May 1903 the present city of Blountstown was chartered. The first Mayor, Francis Marion Yon had
mapped out the town into streets, alleys, blocks and lots. Yonâ€™s plat is still recognized as the first
area surveyed for the city.

After Indian Chief John Blount was removed to Texas his reservation along the Apalachicola River
reverted to the United States. A number of cotton planters immediately purchased patents from the
U.S. Shadrick Sutton bought the major part of the Blount reservation. However a number of other
settlers became large land owners in the area.

In 1832 the territorial legislature created the county of Fayette and made the town of Ocheesee the
county seat. A number of people from Tallahassee purchased lots in the town with the expectation
of a real estate boom. The legislature abolished the county in 1834 and Ocheesee grew very little. It
served as a community center for a number of years for a number of planters who acquired large
acreage along the Apalachicola River. When cotton farmers exhausted the fertile lands in Virginia
and Carolina a small number purchased river bottom lands around Ocheesee. The lands bordering

http://bit.ly/1dE5nhW


the Apalachicola River became known as "Little Mississippi".

A number of settlers became planters by 1860. The most outstanding planter was Jason Gregory.
Gregory realized the most importance of the cotton area. He was able to buy practically all the lots in
the town of Ocheesee as well as acquiring thirty six hundred acres of farm land. Gregory owned
large acreage in both Jackson and Gadsden Counties. Later he owned lands in Alachua County.
The Gregory home became a social center for the area from Marianna to Pensacola. The river boat
landing was the chief river port for Jackson County as well as other surrounding areas. From 1850
until 1865 the Gregory home on the west banks of the Apalachicola River was a true of the southern
planterâ€™s life.

Gregoryâ€™s children received college educations. In the late 1850â€™s as many as thirty
steamboats were plying the Apalachicola from Georgia and Alabama to Apalachicola. The Gregory
home was known as the most hospitable home between Columbus and Apalachicola. State officials
from Tallahassee, United States Judges and office holders from Pensacola and Apalachicola often
visited the Jason Gregory family. The social events which were given by Jason Gregory are legend.
He was often invited to visit Tallahassee and Pensacola and even Washington City.

The county showed little growth from 1865 to 1890. Timber and the naval store industry became the
money making industry by the turn of the century. The large cypress trees, many of them over three
hundred years old, were cut from the swamps and rafted and floated down the Chipola and
Apalachicola Rivers to the hugh sawmills at the mouth of the river. Mills from Boston and other
eastern cities found this area the best for virgin timber. The mill operators and merchants financed
many loggers until 1910.

Naval store operators were heavily financed by northern capital and found the county the best long
leaf yellow pine timber in the South. Scores of turpentine camps sprang up over the county. An
abundant labor supply was transported from Georgia and South Carolina. Calhoun County became
one of the fastest growing counties in Florida from 1910 to 1920. Large corporate sawmills moved
into the county during this decade.

Pennington and Evans employed hundreds of laborers in manufacturing the tremendous supply of
long leaf pine. In 1917 Neal Lumber and Manufacturing Company moved into old Blountstown and
acquired seventy thousand acres of hardwood timber land, most of it along the Apalachicola River.
Before World War II more than five hundred personnel were employed by Neal. Using proper
conservation methods Neal now had more than eighty thousand acres of timber growing land.

Calhoun Countians believed in public education. By the early l920â€™s four high schools were built
in the county, Port St. Joe, Wewahitchka, Blountstown and Altha and later Frink and Kinard built
brick buildings in their particular area. Before 1920 as many as thirty district schools accommodated
the pupils in small communities.

Church membership in the county is rather large as compared to large cities. A number of large and
new buildings have been constructed or renovated since World War II. Wars have greatly influenced
the county. In the War Between the States the county suffered heavy casualties. When United
States declared war on Germany in April 1917 the National Guard was sent to military camps within
two weeks. Following Pearl Harbor a number of volunteers and draftees were immediately sent to
training camps. The county lost over thirty native sons in the conflict. Casualties were suffered in the
Korean conflict; the Vietnam exacted a heavy toll of local servicemen.

Two of Calhoun County native sons were elected to high state offices. Fuller Warren was elected to
a four year term as Floridaâ€™s Chief Executive in 1948. Rivers Buford served several terms as
Chief Justice of the Florida Supreme Court. A number of Calhoun Countians served in the Florida
Legislature.

Materials are generally available on interlibrary loan from the circulating collection of the State
Library. Those that are only found in the non-circulating Florida Collection are marked with an



asterisk (*). These must be used in the Dorothy Dodd Room of the State Library of Florida. Call
numbers of books in the circulating collection are to the left of the Florida Room call numbers.

Special Collections Department, University of West Florida Libraries  acquires, preserves, catalogs,
and provides reference services to research materials which document the history and development
of Pensacola and the West Florida region (ten counties of the Florida Panhandle, between the
Perdido and Apalachicola Rivers) from earliest settlement to the present time.
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